IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-0094

LOYD FRANKLIN RANSOM, JR.,

PETITIONER,

VERSUS

GUARDIAN REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC., AND GUARDIAN ELDER CARE AT FAIRMONT, LLC,

RESPONDENTS.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARION COUNTY, CASE NO. CC-24-2019-C-93

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

Drew M. Capuder WV State Bar 9053 Capuder Fantasia PLLC Manchin Professional Building 1543 Fairmont Avenue, Suite 101 Fairmont, West Virginia 26554-2100 (304) 333-5261 (Voice) (681) 404-6800 (Facsimile) Email: dcapuder@capuderfantasia.com Counsel for Petitioner Loyd Franklin Ransom, Jr.

B.	Facts			
III.	Summ	ary of A	Argument		
IV.	Statem	ent Reg	arding Oral Argument and Decision7		
V.					
	A.	Standard of Review for Interpretation of Statutes			
	B.	Standa	rd of Review for Motion for Summary Judgment		
VI.	Argum	ent: As	signments of Error and Discussion10		
	A.	0	ent for Assignment of Error 1: Misinterpreting the Business Liability tion Act by Requiring the Employee's Firearm to be "Out of View" 10		
		1.	The Trial Court's Holding Misinterprets and Fails to Reconcile the Provisions of 61-7-14		
		2.	Business Liability Protection Act: The Correct and Controlling Provision		
		3.	Simple Statutory Interpretation Principles Control		
		4.	The Trial Court's Decision Judicially Rewrites 61-7-14(d)(3)(B)		
		5.	Summary of Statutory Interpretation Issue		
	В.	Busine	ent for Assignment of Error 2: Misinterpreting "Out of View" in the ss Liability Protection Act and Misapplying Summary Judgment rds		
		1.	Even if § 61-7-14(d)(1) of the Act controls, There is Still an Issue Which Precluded Summary Judgment in Favor of Respondents		
		2.	Mr. Ransom's Firearm Was "Out of View" (or a Fact Question Existed on that Issue)		
		3.	Summary of "Out of View" Issue		
	C.		ent for Assignment of Error 3: Error in Granting Summary Judgment som's Harless Claim		
VII.	Conclusion				

Table of Authorities

Statutes
N.D. CENT. CODE ANN. § 62.1-04-01
W. VA. CODE § 61-7-14 1, 10, 25, 31
W. Va. Code § 61-7-14(a)(6) 16, 17, 19, 20
W. Va. Code § 61-7-14(b)
W. Va. Code § 61-7-14(c)
W. VA. CODE § 61-7-14(d)(1) passim
W. Va. Code § 61-7-14(d)(2)
W. VA. CODE § 61-7-14(d)(3)(B) passim
W. Va. Code § 61-7-14(e)
W. Va. Code § 61-7-14(f)
W. Va. Code § 61-7-2(3)
WEST VIRGINIA BUSINESS LIABILITY PROTECTION ACT, W. VA. CODE § 61-7-14 passim
Rules
W. VA. R. APP. P. 19(a)(4)
W. VA. R. APP. P. 19(g)(1)
W. VA. R. APP. P. 19(g)(2)
W. VA. R. APP. P. 20(a)(2)
W. VA. R. APP. P. 20(g)(2)
W. Va. R. Civ. P. 33(b)(1) & (2)
W. VA. R. CIV. P. 56
W. VA. R. CIV. P. 56(e)
Cases
Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963)
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242 (1986)
Andrick v. Town of Buckhannon, 187 W.Va. 706, 421 S.E.2d 247 (1992)
Baker v. Bd. of Educ., Cty. of Hancock, 207 W. Va. 513, 534 S.E.2d 378 (2000)
Brickstreet Mut. Ins. Co. v. Zurich Am. Ins. Co., 240 W. Va. 414, 813 S.E.2d 67 (2018)

.

Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995)
<i>Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc.,</i> 210 W. Va. 740, 559 S.E.2d 713 (2001)
Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W. Va. 99, 464 S.E.2d 741 (1995)
Harless v. First National Bank of Fairmont, 162 W. Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270 (1978) passim
Kessel v. Monongalia Cnty. Gen. Hosp. Co., 220 W. Va. 602, 648 S.E.2d 366 (2007)
Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)10
Pierce v. Ford Motor Co., 190 F.2d 910 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 342 U.S. 887 (1951)10
<i>Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prod., Inc.,</i> 530 U.S. 133 (2000)
Tillis v. Wright, 217 W. Va. 722, 619 S.E.2d 235 (2005)
Wiggins v. Eastern Associated Coal Corp., 178 W. Va. 63, 357 S.E.2d 745 (1987)
Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-0094

LOYD FRANKLIN RANSOM, JR.,

PETITIONER,

VERSUS

GUARDIAN REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC., AND GUARDIAN ELDER CARE AT FAIRMONT, LLC,

RESPONDENTS.

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

I. Assignments of Error

- 1. The Trial Court erred in granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment, and in denying plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment, in that the Trial Court misinterpreted the WEST VIRGINIA BUSINESS LIABILITY PROTECTION ACT, W. VA. CODE § 61-7-14, by failing to conclude that W. VA. CODE § 61-7-14(d)(3)(B) (specifically addressing employment and termination) controlled the termination in issue, and by concluding improperly that W. VA. CODE § 61-7-14(d)(1) (generally applying to all property owners and lessees) controlled. As part of that error, the Trial Court erred by concluding that an employee's firearm must be "out of view" for an employee to have any protection from discharge, where the employee has his lawfully owned firearm locked inside his vehicle in the employer's parking lot.
- 2. The Trial Court erred in granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment, because, even assuming that Section 61-7-14(d)(1) of the West Virginia Business Liability Protection Act controls, requiring the firearm to be "out of view", the Trial Court misinterpreted the meaning of "out of view" and misapplied summary judgment standards, because a material issue of fact existed as to whether the firearm was "out of view".

3. The Trial Court erred in granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment as to Plaintiff's claim under *Harless v. First National Bank of Fairmont*, 162 W. Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270, 275 (1978), in that the Trial Court wrongly concluded that Defendants did not violate the Business Liability Protection Act, so the Trial Court concluded there could be no viable Harless claim.

II. Statement of the Case

A. Procedure

1. On May 23, 2019, Plaintiff (Petitioner in this Appeal) filed a Complaint against Defendants Guardian Rehabilitation Services, Inc., and Guardian Elder Care at Fairmont, LLC (Respondents in this Appeal), alleging two causes of action, wrongful discharge in violation of the West Virginia Business Liability Protection Act, W. Va. Code. 61-7-14 ("BLPA") and wrongful discharge under *Harless v. First National Bank of Fairmont*, 162 W. Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270 (1978) (with the substantial public policy being the violation of the BLPA) (A.R. 1). Defendants answered on August 2, 2019 (A.R. 12).¹

1. On August 13, 2021, Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (A.R. 27) and a Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (A.R. 30). Defendants sought summary judgment on all matters. Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on September 16, 2021 (A.R. 86). Defendants filed a Reply Brief in Support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on September 16, 2021 (A.R. 79).

2. On September 2, 2021, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (A.R. 49) and Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (A.R. 53). Plaintiff sought summary judgment on liability on both causes of action, but not on damages

¹ References to the Appendix Record—the contents of which were agreed to by the parties are set forth as "A.R. __."

(A.R. 49, 55). Defendants' Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was filed on September 15, 2021 (A.R. 68).

3. A hearing was conducted on the cross motions for summary judgment on September 17, 2021 (A.R. 212 (transcript); 117 (docket notes); 120 (plaintiff's handouts at the hearing)).

4. The Trial Court announced at the end of the hearing that he was granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment and denying Plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment, based on the Court siding with Defendants' interpretation of § 61-7-14 of the Business Liability Protection Act (A.R. 233). On October 8, 2021, the Trial Court entered its order granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment and denying Plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment (A.R. 205).

5. Plaintiff appealed that decision through a notice of appeal filed with this court on November 8, 2021 (A.R. 254). Because of the difference between the name of the plaintiff below and the name of the petitioner on the notice of appeal (Franklin Ransom as plaintiff (the name he "goes by") and Loyd Franklin Ransom, Jr. on appeal (his proper legal name)), the Clerk of Court for this Court issued an Order on December 6, 2021 (A.R. 236), refusing to docket the appeal (based on the incorrect assumption that petitioner was a different person from the plaintiff below) (A.R. 254 (order refusing to docket appeal); 236 (incorrect assumption)).

6. The Clerk of Court for this Court informed undersigned counsel by phone that the December 6 Order constituted a dismissal of the appeal, and that Mr. Ransom would have to obtain an amended summary judgment order from the trial court correcting Mr. Ransom's name at the trial court; and would have to file a second notice of appeal from the amended summary judgment order (A.R. 262-263).

7. Mr. Ransom then filed a motion with the trial court on December 9, 2021 to correct his name in the Circuit Clerk file (from Franklin Ransom to Loyd Franklin Ransom, Jr.) and to amend the summary judgment order so that it reflects the corrected name (A.R. 236). The Trial Court granted that motion on January 3, 2022 (A.R. 261 (hearing transcript); 267 (docket notes); 269 (order granting motion to correct name)), and on January 10, 2022 issued the amended summary judgment order (correcting Mr. Ransom's name) that is the subject of this Appeal (A.R. 282).

8. Relief Sought: Petitioner (Plaintiff below) seeks reversal of the Trial Court's (a) summary judgment (in favor of Defendants) and (b) dismissal of this case (see Amended Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissing Case from Docket, entered January 10, 2022, A.R. 282), and seeks an order instructing the Trial Court to grant the Plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment on liability, and seeks a remand for new trial on damages. Alternatively, even if the firearm in issue had to be "out of view", Petitioner seeks an order remanding this case for new trial. Plaintiff seeks his taxable appeal costs and attorneys' fees under the BLPA.

B. Facts

9. The following is a sequence of those events which are relevant to this Appeal. The facts more important to the specific summary judgment issues will be discussed in more detail below in the discussion section of this Brief.

- 10. On October 1, 2018:
- a. Loyd Franklin Ransom, Jr. ("Mr. Ransom") begins working at Guardian Elder Care of Fairmont, LLC ("Guardian Elder care") as a licensed Occupational Therapist Assistant in Fairmont (A.R. 103, Ransom Affidavit at 1, ¶ 2).
- b. Mr. Ransom worked at the Guardian workplace in Fairmont from October 1, 2018 until he was fired on October 22, 2018 (A.R, Ransom Affidavit at 2, ¶ 5).
- c. In going to work for Guardian, Mr. Ransom continued to live with his wife in Cool Ridge, WV, roughly a 3-hour drive from his job in Fairmont. Mr. Ransom

rented an apartment in Fairmont to stay during the work week (A.R. 104, Ransom Affidavit at 2, ¶¶ 6-7).

- d. Mr. Ransom worked during the week for Defendants and drove home (commuted) during the weekend to be with his wife. (A.R. 104, Ransom Affidavit at 2, ¶¶ 6-7).
- e. Mr. Ransom was a firearm owner and lawfully owned the rifle in issue (A.R. 105-107, Ransom Affidavit at 3, ¶ 8, at 4-5, ¶¶ 14-15).
- 11. On October 21, 2018 (Sunday):
- a. During the weekend, Mr. Ransom had been at his home in Cool Ridge WV with his wife, and drove late Sunday to Fairmont to go to work the next day at Guardian (A.R. 1099-110, Ransom Affidavit at 7-8, ¶ 19(a)-(c)).
- b. Mr. Ransom drove with his lawfully owned rifle in his red 2012 Ford Focus Hatchback, with dark tinted windows and a black interior (A.R. 107-108, Ransom Affidavit at 5-6, ¶¶ 16-18).
- c. The rifle stock was collapsed (so the gun was inoperable), and the rifle was on the floorboard in the front passenger area. He also had in his car: clothing, a suitcase containing the bullets and magazine for the rifle, and other items he brought from his home in Cool Ridge to his work apartment in Fairmont. (A.R. 109-110, Ransom Affidavit at 7-8, ¶ 19(a)-(c)).
- d. Mr. Ransom got to his Fairmont apartment about 10:30pm (after the 3-hour drive), and carried multiple loads of possessions from his car upstairs to his apartment, but forgot in the car the collapsed rifle (sitting on the floorboard in the front passenger area). (A.R. 105, Ransom Affidavit at 3, ¶¶ 11-12).
- 12. October 22, 2018 (Monday):
- a. Ransom drove to work in the morning, arriving at 6:30am. (A.R. 110, Ransom Affidavit at 8, ¶ 19(d)-(g)).
- b. As he started to leave his apartment, he realized he left his rifle on the floorboard in the front passenger area, and while driving to work covered the rifle with a dark jacket and a dark computer case. Mr. Ransom arrived at work at Guardian at 6:30am. There was no ammunition and magazine in the rifle and anywhere else in the car. Those items were in his apartment (A.R. 110, Ransom Affidavit at 8, ¶ 19(d)).
- c. Mr. Ransom parked his locked car in an area of the parking lot at the Guardian facility where employees (not customers and residents) parked; Mr. Ransom went to work as usual (A.R. 110, Ransom Affidavit at 8, ¶ 19(e)).
- d. Around noon, Guardian Elder Care Director of Rehabilitation, Kirstein Smith, told Mr. Ransom that someone saw his rifle in his car, and instructed Mr. Ransom to drive his car to his Fairmont apartment, leave the rifle at his apartment, and return to work. Ransom was fully compliant, did exactly as requested, and returned to work with his car and left his rifle at his apartment (A.R. 111, Ransom Affidavit at 9, ¶22).

e. Later in the day, Mr. Ransom was brought back into the management offices at Guardian and was fired by 3 employees working for Defendants: Kirsten Smith (Director of Rehabilitation at Guardian Elder Care), Beth Harris (Administrator at Guardian Elder Care), and Betsy Myers (by phone, Area Manager for Guardian Rehabilitation). Mr. Ransom was fired solely because he had a firearm in his locked car, and the Defendants' handbook completely prohibited the possession of the firearm on company property—and that company policy violated West Virginia law. (A.R. 111-112, Ransom Affidavit at 9-10, ¶¶ 22-25 (firing); A.R. 112-114, Ransom Affidavit at 10-12, ¶¶ 26-29 (handbook)).

III. Summary of Argument

13. There is no dispute in this case that Mr. Ransom was fired because he had a firearm locked in his car at work on October 22, 2018. As the summary judgment discussed in detail below demonstrates, Respondents fired Mr. Ransom because they were applying a handbook (A.R. 113-114) which made it a fireable offense to possess a firearm at work, and it didn't matter whether the firearm was hidden in a car or not. The handbook violated the Business Liability Protection Act. Mr. Ransom was fired for *possessing* a firearm (A.R. 112, ¶ 25).

14. But the Business Liability Protection Act expressly forbids an employer from terminating an employee who has a lawfully owned firearm in his locked car at work, and it doesn't matter whether the firearm is hidden or "out of view". § 61-7-14(d)(3)(B).

15. Respondents have postured in this lawsuit that they fired Mr. Ransom for having a firearm in his car in "open view", and they contend that § 61-7-14(d)(1) controls. That provisions deals with the general rights of property owners as to any invitees, so it is far less specific than § 61-7-14(d)(3)(B) which specifically addresses employment rights. The Trial Court agreed with Respondents on the statutory interpretation issue and granted summary judgment for Respondents (A.R. 282).

16. This case, this Appeal, and both motions for summary judgment, turn on the

interpretation of WEST VIRGINIA BUSINESS LIABILITY PROTECTION ACT, W. VA. CODE § 61-7-

14(d)(3)(B) ("the Act" or "BLPA").

- a. If Plaintiff is correct that § 61-7-14(d)(3)(B) controls, Plaintiff wins on liability issues (on both causes of action: violation of the BLPA and *Harless*). This is because an employer may not fire an employee who has a firearm locked in his car in the company parking lot, and it is irrelevant as to whether the firearm was visible or "out of view".
- b. If Defendants are correct that W. Va. Code § 61-7-14(d)(1) controls, then there are still disputed issues of fact that should send this case to trial. The disputed issue of fact is:
 - Whether Mr. Ransom's rifle, locked in his car at work on the day he was fired, was "out of view" as set out in § 61-7-14(d)(1)? Only § 61-7-14(d)(1), which Defendants rely upon, requires that the firearm be "out of view" to be entitled to any protection as the firearm owner.
 - ii. The summary judgment evidence was clear that Mr. Ransom covered his firearm (rifle) in his car on the day of his discharge with a jacket and computer case, so the firearm was "out of view". There is simply a disputed issue of fact on whether his firearm was out of view, because the mere fact that someone could see a firearm is not dispositive. "Out of view" does not mean completely concealed under all circumstances.

IV. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision

17. This case poses important issues relating rights of employees who are firearm owners in West Virginia. The Trial Court described "tension" and "conflict" between the two provisions of the BLPA in issue. The rights of employees in West Virginia are significantly impacted by the interpretation of BLPA. When may an employee lawfully possess a firearm in a locked vehicle at work, and does that firearm have to be "out of view"? Important issues for West Virginia employees are at stake, and oral argument is requested, either under W. VA. R. APP. P. 20(a)(2) (oral argument for cases of fundamental public importance) or W. VA. R. APP. P. 19(a)(4) (oral argument for cases involving a narrow issue of law). For oral arguments under Rules 20 and 19, Petitioner respectfully submits oral argument under Rule 20 is appropriate (*see* W. VA. R. APP. P. 19(g)(2)), followed by an opinion under W. VA. R. APP. P. 20(g)(2) or W. VA. R. APP. P. 19(g)(1).

V. Argument: Standards of Review

A. Standard of Review for Interpretation of Statutes

18. Assignments of Error 1 and 2, *see* Assignments of Error above at page 1, assert errors in interpreting the Business Liability Protection Act.

19. For matters "presenting a question of statutory interpretation, the applicable standard of review" is "de novo". *Kessel v. Monongalia Cnty. Gen. Hosp. Co.*, 220 W. Va. 602, 610, 648 S.E.2d 366, 374 (2007); accord Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

B. Standard of Review for Motion for Summary Judgment

20. Assignment of Error 2, *see* Assignments of Error above at page 1, asserts errors in applying standards for evaluating whether fact issues exist in connection with motions for summary judgment.

21. Under W. VA. R. CIV. P. 56, a motion for summary judgment "should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329, 336 (1995); *Syllabus Point 3, Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York*, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963).

22. Summary judgment is appropriate only if, "from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." *Williams*, 194 W. Va. at 59, 459 S.E.2d at 336 (emphasis added) (*citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317 (1986)).

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