FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRG



NO: 22-0094

LOYD FRANKLIN RANSOM, JR., Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

GUARDIAN REHABILITATION SERVICES, INC., AND GUARDIAN ELDER CARE AT FAIRMONT, LLC,
Defendants Below. Respondents.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARION COUNTY, CASE NO. CC-24-2019-C-93

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF AND CROSS-ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Phillip T. Glyptis, Esquire WV. I.D. #9378 ptglyptis@burnswhite.com

BURNS WHITE LLC The Maxwell Centre 32 20th Street, Suite 200 Wheeling, WV 26003 Tel: 304-233-9500 Fax: 304-233-1363

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

A: No, they didn't tell me open view. I was never told those words. I was told someone reported seeing a firearm in my vehicle, but open view was not a word that was said.

Q: Do you have an understanding of how somebody could report seeing a firearm in your vehicle if the firearm was not in open view?

A: Yes, given it was - ... I was told by the administrator if I would have parked anywhere else, it would have not been any problem. But because I parked in that

smoking area, people commonly would, you know, maybe lean against your car or things like that. And if it's anything at all, if the barrel had slipped off, you know the thing had slipped off and the barrel was sticking up, and they were nosy and peaking in my car, they may have seen it. . . .

Q: Well, Mr. Ransom, just so we're clear here, is it your understanding that the reason you were terminated was the result of somebody having seen the rifle in your vehicle and reporting that to management or administration at Guardian?

A: Correct.

AR-042 (emphasis added).

By his own admission, Mr. Ransom was told by Guardian's "administrator" that, if he had parked his car in a different parking spot, the mere possession of his rifle in his locked car "would not have been any problem", because the rifle would not have been seen by one of Mr. Ransom's co-workers. Mr. Ransom's rifle was undisputedly in open view and, as such, Guardian was not statutorily barred from immediately taking disciplinary action against Mr. Ransom.

(c) Petitioner Mistakenly Attempts to Apply the Criminal Provisions of Section 61-7-14 to a Civil Cause of Action

Petitioner next argues that Guardian was required under the statute to "ask Mr. Ransom to either adjust the firearm so it was out of view or take his firearm to his apartment" before any disciplinary action could be taken. See Petitioner's Opening Brief at pg. 14. "Had Mr. Ransom refused to either place the firearm 'out of view' or take it home, [Guardian] would have arguably had the right, under a combination of § 67-7-14(d)(1) and § 61-7-14(b) & (c), to terminate Mr. Ransom because he was at that point openly refusing to either hide the firearm or remove it." See Petitioner's Opening Brief at pg. 14 (emphasis added). Petitioner goes onto assert that once he took the rifle home at Guardian's request he was in "full compliance" with § 67-7-14(d)(1). See Petitioner's Opening Brief at pg. 15.

Petitioner's tortured interpretation of the BLPA is a misguided attempt to read a procedure plainly intended for criminal matters, see W.Va. Code § 61-7-14(c), into subparagraph (d)(1)

applicable here to a civil cause of action. Petitioner's misleading argument is premised upon the following language of the statute:

Any natural person carrying or possessing a firearm or other deadly weapon on the property of another who refuses to temporarily relinquish possession of the firearm or other deadly weapon, upon being requested to do so, or to leave the premises, while in possession of the firearm or other deadly weapon, is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than \$1,000 or confined in jail not more than six months, or both[.]

W.Va. Code § 61-7-14(c) (emphasis added).

Sections 61-7-14(d)(1) and 61-7-14(d)(4) are both silent with respect to the timing of any disciplinary action that may be taken by an employer against an employee for bringing a firearm in open view onto company property or maintaining possession of a firearm in open view on company property. However, the words "prevent" and "prohibit" as used in subparagraphs (d)(1) and (d)(4) connote an immediate right of the employer to take disciplinary action where an employee has a firearm in open view on company property.

In sum, section 61-7-14 contains no language in the employment relationship context that would require an employer to follow the procedure outlined in subparagraph (c) before disciplining an employee for keeping a firearm in open view on company property. Petitioner's argument to the contrary is incorrect.

(d) The Trial Court's Interpretation of the BLPA's Plain Language is the Only Reasonable Construction of Section 61-7-14

Petitioner argues that his construction of the statute is the only way to reconcile the provisions of subparagraphs (d)(1) and (d)(3) and that the Trial Court's decision on summary judgment somehow abrogates or modifies subparagraph (d)(3)(B). See generally Petitioner's Opening Brief at pp. 11-21. Petitioner is clearly mistaken.

Subparagraph (f)(4) creates a civil cause of action for an "employee . . . aggrieved under the authority of subsection (d) of this section to bring an action for *violation of the rights protected*

under this section". W.Va. Code § 61-7-14(f)(4) (emphasis added). Nowhere within Section 61-7-14 does the BLPA create or protect a right of an employee to either: (1) bring a firearm in open view onto an employer's property, or (2) retain possession of a firearm in open view on an employer's property. Accordingly, Mr. Ransom's rights were not violated when Guardian made the decision to terminate his at-will employment relationship on October 22, 2018.

As demonstrated *supra*, subparagraphs (d)(1)(B) and (d)(4) only permit an employee to bring a firearm onto an employer parking lot and, thereafter, retain possession of the firearm on company property when the firearm is kept "out of view" in the employee's motor vehicle. W.Va. Code § 61-7-14(d)(1), (4).

The subparagraph that Petitioner relies on merely states that an employer cannot enter into an agreement with an employee that would condition employment on the employee's promise to refrain from keeping a firearm "locked inside or locked to" the employee's vehicle. W.Va. Code § 61-7-14(d)(3). Subparagraph (d)(3) does <u>not</u> prohibit an employer from entering into an agreement with an employee whereby the employee promises to refrain from keeping a firearm in open view on company property. Indeed, the words "open view" or "out of view" do not appear in subparagraph (d)(3).

The term "locked inside or locked to a motor vehicle" means:

- (A) The vehicle is locked; or
- (B) The firearm is in a locked trunk, glove box, or other interior compartment; or
- (C) The firearm is in a locked container securely fixed to the vehicle; or
- (D) The firearm is secured and locked to the vehicle itself by the use of some form of attachment and lock."

W.Va. Code § 61-7-14(a)(6)(A)-(D).

Each of these meanings to the term "locked inside or locked to" suggest that the firearm must be kept out of view within the locked motor vehicle either within one of the vehicle's closed compartments or within a closed container or attachment of some kind. *Id.* Petitioner's argument to the contrary would completely render the requirement of subparagraphs (d)(1)(B) and (d)(4) that the employee's firearm be kept "out of view" a nullity.

"[A] cardinal rule of statutory construction is that significance and effect must, if possible, be given to every section, clause, word or part of the statute." *Meadows v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 207 W.Va. 203, 214, 530 S.E.2d 676, 687 (1999) (internal quotations and citations omitted). Petitioner's proposed construction of the statute violates this fundamental rule of law.

The Trial Court correctly held as follows:

I can't believe that it's not permissible for an employer or a property owner to have the right to prohibit firearms on the premises *if they are in view*. I don't see – I don't buy Mr. Capuder's argument that there's a continuum what would be claimed something that's concealed when something's in view. I think it's one. And I agree with Ms. Farrell that this was obviously in view. Defendants' motion[] for summary judgment [is] granted.

AR-233 (emphasis added). In so holding, the Trial Court correctly applied the foregoing basic rule of statutory construction stating, "While subsection (d)(3) does not specify that the firearm must be 'out of view,' the statute cannot be read to obviate subsection (d)(1) and its requirement that the firearm be 'out of view'. To read the statute to the contrary, would lead to an absurd result." AR-284.

In conclusion, Mr. Ransom brought a firearm in open view onto Guardian's parking lot. AR-004-005; AR-040-042, 046. The firearm was seen by one of Mr. Ransom's coworkers and reported to Guardian's management. *Id.* Mr. Ransom has no right under the BLPA to either: (1) bring a firearm in open view in his motor vehicle onto his employer's property, nor (2) maintain possession of a firearm in open view in his motor vehicle while on company property. Therefore,

Guardian's decision to terminate Mr. Ransom's at-will employment relationship does not constitute a violation of West Virginia law.

The Trial Court correctly granted Guardian's Motion for Summary Judgment and properly denied Petitioner's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. Therefore, the Trial Court's October 8, 2021 Final Order as amended on January 10, 2022 should be affirmed in all respects.

B. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2: NO MATERIAL DISPUTE OF FACT EXISTS AS TO WHETHER PETITIONER'S FIREARM WAS "OUT OF VIEW" AND, THEREFORE, THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED GUARDIAN'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

The Merriam-Webster Dictionary cannot save Petitioner from the irrefutable fact that one of his coworkers saw his rifle and reported the same to Guardian's management. AR-004-005; AR-040-042, 046. It is an illogical argument indeed for Mr. Ransom to assert that a material dispute of fact exists as to whether his rifle was "out of view", when the rifle was actually seen by another person. *Id.* Without question, if Mr. Ransom's rifle was seen from any angle, it was by definition within the view of the person who saw the rifle and reported the same to Guardian. Consequently, the Trial Court did not err in granting summary judgment in Guardian's favor on all counts.

When questioned at his discovery deposition whether someone standing outside his vehicle would have been able to see the rifle, Mr. Ransom responded, "They should not have been able to see [the rifle] unless they had their face up against the window and were looking in." AR-041 (emphasis added). Mr. Ransom even acknowledged that if he had been "thinking about it" he "would have probably repositioned" the rifle to make sure nobody could see it. AR-042 (emphasis added).

Mr. Ransom's efforts to cover the rifle and position it in his vehicle in a way that it would not be seen by others were ultimately unsuccessful. AR-042. It is undisputed that Guardian

received a report on October 22, 2018 from an employee who saw the rifle in Mr. Ransom's vehicle. AR-042; *see also* AR-004-005, AR-046.

Mr. Ransom specifically testified that, "I was told someone reported seeing a firearm in my vehicle" AR-042. Mr. Ransom also testified very clearly that it was his understanding that the reason he was terminated was the result of somebody having seen the rifle in his vehicle and reporting the same to management at Guardian. AR-042; see also AR-004-005.

Mr. Ransom's deposition testimony could not have been any clearer. It is Mr. Ransom's understanding that he was terminated, because a coworker of his saw the rifle in his vehicle and reported the same to management. Mr. Ransom also testified that it was possible to see the rifle from outside the vehicle, if someone was standing close enough to the vehicle to look through the window. Notwithstanding this critical portion of Mr. Ransom's sworn deposition testimony, Petitioner inappropriately attempted to create a material dispute of fact (that does not exist) at the summary judgment phase of the Trial Court proceeding by submitting a sham affidavit which states, "I believe that my rifle was completely concealed in my locked car". AR-110.

Now on appeal – Petitioner is content to double down on this error by repeatedly citing to a sham affidavit in a misleading attempt to create a material dispute of fact that does <u>not</u> exist. *See* Petitioner's Opening Brief at pp. 23-30. In response to this argument of Petitioner, Respondents incorporate by reference as if the same were set forth fully and at length herein the entire legal analysis set forth in their Reply Brief in Support of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment regarding sham affidavits. AR-080-82; *see also Tolley v. Carboline Co.*, 217 W.Va. 158, 617 S.E.2d 508 (2005); *Kiser v. Caudill*, 215 W.Va. 403, 599 S.E.2d 826 (2004); and *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

The sham affidavit rule "precludes a party from creating an issue of fact to prevent summary judgment by submitting an affidavit that directly contradicts previous deposition testimony of the affiant." *Tolley*, 217 W.Va. at 165, 617 S.E.2d at 515 (*quoting Kiser*, 215 W.Va. at 409, 599 S.E.2d at 832. The sham affidavit rule applies here, and the Supreme Court should entirely disregard the affidavit of Petitioner.

There is no material dispute of fact in this case. The Trial Court correctly granted Guardian's Motion for Summary Judgment and properly denied Petitioner's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. Therefore, the Trial Court's October 8, 2021 Final Order as amended on January 10, 2022 should be affirmed in all respects.

- C. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 3: THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT GUARDIAN DID NOT VIOLATE WEST VIRGINIA'S BUSINESS LIABILITY PROTECTION ACT AND, THEREFORE, PETITIONER'S "HARLESS" CLAIM FAILS NECESSARILY AS A MATTER OF LAW
 - 1. No Violation of the BLPA Occurred

In West Virginia, it is a long-established rule that an employee is presumed to be an at-will employee. Wright v. Standard Ultramarine & Color Co., 141 W.Va. 368, 90 S.E.2d 459 (1955). Absent an exception to the at-will doctrine, an employee may be terminated at any time, with or without cause. Id. West Virginia courts have recognized a public policy exception to at-will employment beginning with the West Virginia Supreme Court's decision in Harless v. First National Bank of Fairmont, 162 W.Va. 116, 246 S.E.2d 270 (1978). In Harless the court articulated that the rule regarding at-will employment is tempered where the discharge is motivated by an intention to contravene some substantial public policy. Id. It is axiomatic that where a public policy has not been violated, Harless cannot apply. See Blanda v. Martin & Seibert, L.C., 242 W.Va. 552, 556, 836 S.E.2d 519, 523 (2019) ("a cause of action for wrongful discharge exists

when an aggrieved employee can demonstrate that his/her employer acted contrary to a substantial public policy in effectuating the termination") (internal citations and quotations omitted).

For the reasons set forth more fully *supra* in opposition to Petitioner's Assignment of Error 1, Guardian did not violate the BLPA when it terminated Mr. Ransom – i.e., an at-will employee. As Guardian did not violate the BLPA, there is no public policy violation giving rise to a potential claim under *Harless*. Mr. Ransom's cause of action for wrongful discharge in violation of *Harless* must fail, and the Trial Court's October 8, 2021 Final Order as amended on January 10, 2022 granting summary judgment in Guardian's favor must be affirmed in all respects.

2. Guardian Did Not Act Contrary to a Substantial Public Policy

Petitioner attempts to raise on appeal the issue of whether the BLPA constitutes a "substantial public policy" such that a violation of the same could support a *Harless* claim. This issue was not addressed by the Trial Court and, therefore, it is not ripe for appeal. Nonetheless and out of an abundance of caution, Guardian briefly addresses the issue here based upon the undisputed facts testified to by Mr. Ransom at his deposition.

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